S248492

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM TUPUA SATELE,

Petitioner

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent;

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SANGER SWYSEN & DUNKLE

*Robert M. Sanger, SBN 058214 Stephen K. Dunkle, SBN 227136 125 E. De La Guerra Street, Ste 102 Santa Barbara, California 93101

Tel.: (805) 962-4887 Fax: (805) 963-7311

<u>rmsteam@sangerswysen.com</u> Attorneys for Petitioner,

Attorneys for Petitioner,

William Satele

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issue for review:

1. Whether Penal Code § 1054.9 compels the release of physical evidence for examination by a defense expert where such examination is reasonably necessary to establish that the prosecution's expert's opinion offered at trial has been

undermined by later scientific research or technological advances?

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner is the defendant in a post-conviction death penalty case.

His petition for writ of habeas corpus is due in this Court on June 10, 2018.

At Petitioner's trial, a prosecution ballistics expert testified that a firearm found in Petitioner's vehicle matched the firearm which fired the shell casings found at the scene of the killing "to the exclusion of all others." In order to make a claim that the expert's testimony has been has been undermined by later scientific research or technological advances, Petitioner needs to have the opportunity to have his own expert examine the ballistics evidence.

Petitioner first sought to obtain access to the physical testing by making an informal request to the District Attorney. When that was unsuccessful, counsel filed a Motion for an Order Requiring Production of Physical Evidence for Testing by a Confidential Defense Expert (Penal Code § 1054.9(c)) in the trial court which was denied. The motion sought an order allowing a defense expert to conduct examination and testing of the shell casings and bullets that the prosecution's trial expert stated matched a firearm found in Petitioner's vehicle. That request was denied by

the trial court. Counsel for Petitioner asked the court to allow a defense expert to inspect all the ballistics evidence with LAPD present. That request was denied. Counsel for Petitioner asked the court to allow a defense expert to go to the evidence storage room maintained by the court to view the ballistics evidence received in evidence during the trial and to remove the evidence from the envelopes it is stored in in the presence of the LAPD. That request was denied. Petitioner then filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate which was summarily denied by the Court of Appeal.

As this Court recognized in *In re Richards* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 291, the 2014 amendment to Penal Code § 1473, one of the ways an expert opinion given at trial can later be deemed "false evidence" is if the opinion given at trial is undermined by subsequent "scientific research or technological advances." (Penal Code § 1473(e)(1).) In this case, the only way Petitioner can obtain such an opinion is to have his own expert examine the physical evidence previously examined by the prosecution's expert. Thus, releasing the physical evidence so that he can conduct that examination is reasonably necessary to his effort to obtain relief pursuant to Penal Code § 1054.9(c). Therefore, this Court should grant review to address whether Penal Code § 1054.9 compels the release of physical evidence for examination by a defense expert where such examination is

reasonably necessary to establish that the prosecution's expert's opinion offered at trial has been undermined by later scientific research or technological advances.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner and his co-defendant Daniel Nunez were sentenced to death after being convicted of the 1998 killings of a man and a woman in Harbor City. (*People v. Nunez* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1.) Four shell casings were found at the scene of the killings. (*People v. Nunez, supra*, 57 Cal.4th 1, 6.) When Petitioner was arrested an AK–47–type rifle was found in the vehicle occupied by him and his co-defendant. (*Id.* at 7.) The rifle was identified as the murder weapon through ballistics testing. (*Ibid.*) At trial, the prosecution called a ballistics expert to testify that the casings and bullets admitted as exhibits at trial were fired by the alleged murder weapon "to the exclusion of all others." (RT 1979:5-7.)

///

///

///

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I.

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO ADDRESS

WHETHER PENAL CODE § 1054.9 COMPELS THE RELEASE OF PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOR EXAMINATION BY A DEFENSE EXPERT WHERE SUCH EXAMINATION IS REASONABLY NECESSARY TO ESTABLISH THAT THE PROSECUTION'S EXPERT'S OPINION OFFERED AT TRIAL HAS BEEN UNDERMINED BY LATER SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH OR TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANCES

A. Penal Code §§ 1054.9(c) and 1473(e)(1) Should Be Considered in Tandem to Require that a Defendant Prosecuting a Habeas

Petition in a Capital Case Be Allowed Access to Physical

Evidence Where it Can Be Shown that Such Evidence Is

Reasonably Necessary to Establishing that Expert Testimony

Offered at Trial Was False

Penal Code § 1054.9 states that, upon the prosecution of a post-conviction writ of habeas corpus or a motion to vacate a judgment in a case in which a sentence of death or of life in prison without the possibility of parole has been imposed, and on a showing that good faith efforts to

obtain discovery materials from trial counsel were made and were unsuccessful, the court must order that the defendant be provided reasonable access to such discovery materials. (Penal Code § 1054.9(a); *In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 690.) The trial court may order that the defendant be provided access to physical evidence for the purpose of examination, including, but not limited to, any physical evidence relating to the investigation, arrest, and prosecution of the defendant only upon a showing that there is good cause to believe that access to physical evidence is reasonably necessary to the defendant's effort to obtain relief. (Penal Code § 1054.9(c).)

The potential grounds for relief available to a defendant prosecuting a habeas corpus petition include the relief offered under Penal Code § 1473. Penal Code § 1473 provides that a writ of habeas corpus may be prosecuted, among other reasons, where "[f]alse evidence that is substantially material or probative on the issue of guilt or punishment was introduced against a person at a hearing or trial relating to his or her incarceration." (Penal Code § 1473(b)(1).) In 2014, the Legislature responded to this Court's decision in *In re Richards* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 948 (*Richards I*) by amending section 1473 to state that "'false evidence' shall include opinions of experts that have either been repudiated by the expert who originally provided the

opinion at a hearing or trial or that have been undermined by later scientific research or technological advances." (§ 1473(e)(1), as added by Stats.2014, ch. 623, § 1.) The plain meaning of the amendment to section 1473 makes it clear that an expert opinion given at trial can later be deemed "false evidence" under two circumstances: (1) if the expert repudiates his or own opinion given at trial; or (2) if the opinion given at trial is undermined by subsequent "scientific research or technological advances." (§ 1473(e)(1).) (*In re Richards* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 291, 309 (*Richards II*).)

In a case such as this, Penal Code § 1054.9(c) must be read together with Penal Code § 1473(e)(1) in order to give the defendant a meaningful opportunity to obtain the discovery necessary in order to demonstrate that false evidence was presented at his trial. Petitioner was convicted of murder and received a death sentence after a trial which included testimony by a prosecution ballistics expert that the casings and bullets admitted as exhibits at trial were fired by the alleged murder weapon found in Petitioner's vehicle "to the exclusion of all others." (RT 1979:5-7.) In the course of preparing a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging that conviction and sentence, Petitioner's counsel attempted informally to gain access to those materials so that a defense expert could apply subsequent scientific research and technological advances to undermine the opinion

that the firearm was the murder weapon "to the exclusion of all others." When that effort was unsuccessful, a motion was filed. The trial court denied the motion and refused to allow defense counsel to conduct testing on the ballistics evidence. A petition for writ of mandate was filed in the Court of Appeal which was summarily denied. Unless review is granted and Petitioner is provided the opportunity to have an expert examine the physical evidence pursuant to Penal Code § 1054.9(c), Petitioner has no meaningful opportunity to seek relief pursuant to Penal Code § 1473(e)(1).

B. The Field of Firearm Comparison Has Been Undermined by Subsequent Scientific Research and Advances in Technology

There have been significant scientific research and technological advances in the area of firearm comparison since Petitioner's trial. In 2008, a committee of scientists and statisticians assembled by the National Research Council (NRC), acting at the request of the Department of Justice, issued a report on bullet pattern-matching analysis, Ballistic

1

The NRC is a component of the National Academy of Science, which was created by congressional charter in 1863 to "investigate, examine, experiment, and report upon any subject of science." Act to Incorporate the National Academy of Sciences, sec. 3, 12 Stat. 806 (1863), http://www.nasonli.html. The NRC was established in 1916 "to associate the broad community of science and technology with the Academy's purposes of furthering knowledge and advising the federal government." National Research Council, Committee to Assess the Feasibility, Accuracy, and Technical Capability of a National Ballistics Database, Ballistic Imaging iii (2008).

Imaging [hereinafter Ballistics Imaging].)

The NRC Committee concluded that no scientific foundation existed permitting an expert to declare, with any degree of certainty, individualization based on firearms comparison. The committee determined that "the validity of the fundamental assumptions of uniqueness and reproducibility of firearms-related toolmarks ha[s] not yet been demonstrated." (*Id.* at 3, 81.)

The Committee also expressed serious concerns about firearms examiner's claim of a zero-error rate in the field. It noted that examiners regularly presented statements of unqualified certainty while declaring that ammunition "matched" a firearm. They "tend," in other words, "to cast their assessments in bold absolutes, commonly asserting that a match can be made 'to the exclusion of all other firearms in the world." (*Id.* at 82.) The authors did not mince words in discounting this testimony: "Such comments cloak an inherently subjective assessment of a match with an extreme probability statement that has no firm grounding and unrealistically implies an error rate of zero." (*Id.*) The report concluded: "Conclusions drawn in firearms identification should not be made to imply the presence of a firm statistical basis when none has been demonstrated." (*Id.*)

In 2009, another committee of the National Academy of Sciences

issued a critical report of pattern-matching sciences, and the authors did not spare toolmarks from their strongly worded critique. (National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, Committee on Identifying the Needs of the Forensic Science Community, Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward (2009).) The report found the field lacked any evidence showing that examiners could reliably and repeatedly reach a conclusion of a match. The field did not even purport to have a specific methodology followed by all examiners. "Toolmark and firearms analysis... lacks... a precisely defined process," and while the Association of Firearm and Toolmark Examiners (AFTE) has adopted a theory of identification, it "does not provide a specific protocol." (Id.) The field has no specific, empirical data for an examiner to adhere to when concluding that toolmarks have "sufficient agreement," and instead, defines the phrase as "when it exceeds the best agreement demonstrated between toolmarks known to have been produced by different tools and is consistent with the agreement demonstrated by toolmarks known to have been produced by the same tool." (Id.) The meaning of "sufficient agreement did not depend on data, but on the examiner's "own experience." (*Id.*)

Even when examiners utilize ballistics imaging technology and databases in finding "possible candidate matches between pieces of

evidence," "the final determination of a match is always done through direct physical comparison of the evidence by a firearms examiner, not the computer analysis of images." (*Id.* at 153.) This created a grave risk of bias and an understatement of error rates. The report issued a powerful conclusion: Firearms examination was not a generally accepted science because it had a "fairly limited" scientific knowledge base and lacked a "precisely specified, and scientifically justified, series of steps that lead to results with well-characterized confidence limits." (*Id.*)

In 2016, the President's Council of Advisors on Science and
Technology (PCAST) issued a Report to the President, Forensic Science in
Criminal Courts: Ensuring Scientific Validity of Feature-Comparison
Methods (Sept. 2016). This committee was convened to evaluate what steps
should be taken following the aftermath of the highly critical 2009 NAS
Report "to ensure the validity of forensic evidence used in the Nation's legal
system." The result was this PCAST report in which committee members
evaluated six "forensic feature comparison" disciplines, including firearms
comparison, in order to determine whether such disciplines had been
established to be valid and reliable, foundational requirements for
admissibility in the courts. (PCAST Report.)

PCAST examined whether each forensic discipline met two key

requirements for scientific validity: "foundational validity" - that the method can, in principle, be validly applied - and "validity as applied" - that the method has been reliably applied in practice (PCAST at 56.) To be "foundationally valid," a field must utilize a method that has been subject to "empirical testing by multiple groups, under conditions appropriate to its intended use." (*Id.* at 5.) The studies must also provide "valid estimates of the method accuracy," demonstrating how often an examiner is likely to draw the wrong conclusions. (*Id.* "Without appropriate estimates of accuracy, an examiner's statement that two samples are similar - or even indistinguishable - is scientifically meaningless: it has no probative value, and considerable potential for prejudicial impact. The second requirement for scientific acceptance, "validity as applied," requires that the method or technique be "reliably applied in practice." (*Id.* at 4-5.). Each examiner must be capable of reliably applying the method, and he or she must have actually reliably applied the method.

Firearms comparison is a forensic feature comparison method that attempts to establish that a bullet or casing was fired from a particular weapon. The discipline is based on the theory that the toolmarks produced by different firearms vary substantially enough such that firearms examiners are able to match casings and bullets to the guns from which they were

fired. (Id. at 104.) Specifically, firearms examiners examine bullets and casings for class characteristics in order to determine whether the bullet or casing could have been fired from a weapon of a particular make and model. Class characteristics are predetermined and occur before manufacturing. (Id.) If the class characteristics are the same, the examiner conducts a side by side comparison of the evidence to a bullet or casing test fired from the relevant weapon. This examination requires the examiner conduct a subjective comparison using a comparison microscope of "striae" that occur when a bullet is fired from a gun. (Id.) The Association of Firearms and Toolmark Examiners allow an examiner to declare that a bullet was fired from a particular gun when there is "sufficient agreement," where "sufficient agreement" is defined as the examiner being convinced that the items are extremely unlikely to have a different origin." (*Id.*) PCAST was highly critical of this circular reasoning.

Both NRC Committees and the PCAST Committee, after reviewing all available firearms comparison studies, concluded unequivocally that although the current state of science may permit firearms examiners to conclude that a piece of ammunition was fired from a certain class of firearms, insufficient evidence exists to demonstrate firearms examiners can validly and reliably conclude that a bullet or casing was fired from a

specific individual firearm to the exclusion of all others. In other words, it would be speculation and conjecture and without a sufficient foundation to state that a particular firearm fired the shell casings at issue "to the exclusion of all others."

C. Access to Physical Evidence Pursuant to Penal Code § 1054.9(c)

Is Reasonably Necessary to Apply Subsequent Scientific

Research and Advances in Technology to Demonstrate that False

Evidence Was Offered at Trial

In this case, the potential for relief under Penal Code § 1473(e)(1) based on a showing that the trial expert's testimony was false based upon scientific research or technological advances is illusory if Petitioner is not allowed access to the physical evidence for examination under Penal Code § 1054.9(c). The 2014 amendment to Penal Code § 1473(e)(1) provides that one of the grounds to obtain relief is to show that advances in science and technology may be used to establish that what was once deemed to be a valid expert opinion is now false. However, as a practical matter, the only way to make that determination in a case such as this is to have an expert who is familiar with the current state of scientific research and technological advances conduct a present examination of the relevant physical evidence. Absent that opportunity, there is no way for Petitioner to

seek the relief offered under Penal Code § 1473(e)(1).

Here, counsel for Petitioner first asked the court to allow a defense expert to inspect and test the firearm and other ballistics evidence in the case. That request was denied. Counsel next asked the court to allow a defense expert to inspect all the ballistics evidence with LAPD present. That request was denied. Counsel then asked the court to allow a defense expert to go to the evidence storage room maintained by the court to view the ballistics evidence received in evidence during the trial and to remove the evidence from the envelopes it is stored in for viewing in the presence of the LAPD. That request was denied. We respectfully submit that Penal Code § 1054.9(c) must allow the sort of access to physical evidence requested here when read in conjunction with Penal Code § 1473(e)(1).

Review is necessary so that this Court can resolve the issue of whether Penal Code § 1054.9 compels the release of physical evidence for examination by a defense expert where such examination is reasonably necessary to establish that the prosecution's expert's opinion offered at trial has been undermined by later scientific research or technological advances.

///

///

///

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner respectfully requests that review be granted.