IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM TUPUA SATELE,

Case No. S248492

Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,

Respondent,

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest.

2d Dist. No. B288828 LASC No. NA039358 [CAPITAL CASE]

Original Proceedings
From the Los Angeles County Superior Court
The Honorable Laura Laesecke, Judge Presiding

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jackie Lacey
District Attorney of
Los Angeles County

Phyllis C. Asayama Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 88919

Scott D. Collins Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 143426

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

Further, after pointing out the perceived deficiencies in Petitioner's initial motion, the People went on to address how the defense physical examination of evidence should be ordered "assuming arguendo that the Defense can meets its burden of sufficiently demonstrating facts and exhibits that sufficiently establish good cause and materiality that necessitate access to the requested physical evidence...." (Opposition, p. 6.) While the People's Opposition stopped short of conceding that a successive discovery motion can be brought under section 1054.9, that is certainly an open question, albeit a premature one here, since the instant procedural posture does not yet present that scenario. The trial court - in fact - indicated that it was denying the defense discovery motion "without prejudice." (RT p. 4:4-7.) The People are further aware that this Court

³ The trial was originally conducted by then-Deputy District Attorney Scott Millington. Mr. Millington is currently a sitting judge on the Los Angeles Superior Court, having been appointed to the bench by the Governor on February 16, 2005.

has specifically left open the question of whether a successive, supported discovery motion can be brought pursuant to section 1054.9. (*Catlin v. Superior Court* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 300, 308 (*Catlin*) ("The question whether a court may deny multiple discovery motions as successive is not before us, and we therefore do not address it.") While that question will no-doubt be resolved by this Court in the future, this case does not yet present facts which allow the fair determination of that important question, and today is therefore not the day to resolve that issue.

The Los Angeles Superior Court's Ruling on the Motion
The Los Angeles Superior Court conducted a hearing on the
Motion on February 1, 2018. (Reporter's Transcript (RT); Petitioner's
Lodged Document, B288828.) The court held that Petitioner failed to
make a showing of good cause, and denied the motion on that basis.

(Id. at p. 40.)

At the outset of the hearing, the court noted that, regarding a different portion of the discovery request, the People had provided defense counsel with 1,001 pages of discovery, including some material that had been reviewed by the court in camera. (RT pp. 2-4.) The court also noted that it had previously held a telephonic hearing with counsel regarding the defense request to retest the ballistics evidence. (*Id.* at p. 4.)⁴ During that prior telephonic hearing, the court denied the defense request to retest the ballistics evidence "without prejudice." (*Ibid.*)

The defense next indicated that it had received reports from ballistics experts Starr Sechs, Patrick Ball, and defense ballistics expert Mr. Butler, who was previously retained by Petitioner at trial. (RT pp. 5-7.) There is no indication in the record or exhibits before this Court that the defense provided those reports to the court in support of its Motion. However, the defense conceded during the hearing that all of the abovenamed experts agreed that the ballistics evidence recovered at the scene

⁴ If that conference was reported, a transcript has not been provided to this Court by Petitioner.

matched the firearm recovered from Petitioner, and defense counsel further admitted that defense expert Butler's testimony "corroborate[d]" the testimony from the People's expert, Patrick Ball, that the ballistics evidence "is a match." (*Id.* at p. 7.) In response to the defense request, the court inquired, "What is this accomplishing? ... Why are we creating a third (sic)⁵ report?" (*Id.* at p. 9:12, 9:23.) The defense postulated that they might, in theory, find an expert who disagreed that the ballistics matched, but described this only as a 'possibility,' and offered nothing concrete to support the conclusion that such would *actually* be the result in *this* case. (*Id.* at p. 11; see also *id.* at p. 33:2-4.) A defense investigator viewed the evidence with counsel in the Superior Court Evidence Room, and took photographs. (*Id.* at p. 27.)

The People responded that the defense failed to make a showing of good cause, based upon what they had presented to the court thus far, and that their currently-unsupported request was based upon a showing that amounted to "pure speculation." (RT p. 26:15.) The court agreed and found that the defense argument amounted to: "Gee, Judge, there is no harm." (*Id.* at p. 30:18-19.) The defense argued, generically, that there had been advances in technology since the ballistics evidence was originally tested, but conceded, "Is that going to do it? I don't know." (*Id.* at p. 35:9-10.) Defense Counsel conceded that defense claims were required to be substantiated. (*Id.* at p. 36.) Defense then stated:

We have to come up with something, if there is anything to come up with. If there isn't, that's fine. We'll move on. We'll do something else. That obviously happens a lot, where we go and we look at part of the case and we say, "Okay. We thought there was something there, and there wasn't."

(Ibid.)

⁵ Given that defense counsel conceded that he already had reports from three prior experts (*id.* at pp. 5-7), his request to have the evidence examined by a fourth expert would presumably result in a fourth report.

The People responded that the defense bears the burden to demonstrate good cause and reasonable necessity, and that they had failed to establish either. (RT p. 37.) The defense offered no proof that the opinions of either the prosecution or defense experts were deficient, and therefore they failed to demonstrate good cause as required by statute. (*Ibid.*) The court found that the defense failed to make an actual, supported showing of "good cause" as required by the statute. (*Id.* at p. 40.) Accordingly, the court denied the motion on that basis. (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal's Ruling on the Writ

Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division 3, on March 19, 2018. (Writ, B288828.) Attached to the writ were three exhibits: A) A two-page letter seeking discovery; B) A five-page motion seeking discovery (Motion) and a proposed order; and C) The People's Opposition to the Motion, consisting of nine pages (Opposition). On March 21, 2018, Petitioner also filed with the Court of Appeal a copy of the Reporter's Transcript from the February 1, 2018, hearing on the Motion. (RT.) On April 19, 2018, the Court of Appeal denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate. (Petition for Review, S248492, Exhibit A.)

Petition for Review

//

On April 27, 2018, Petitioner filed the instant Petition for Review. (Petition for Review, S248492.) On May 29, 2018, at 4:06 p.m., this Court requested an Answer to the Petition for Review, due on June 5, 2018. This Answer is respectfully filed pursuant to the Court's request. //

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I

SECTION 1054.9, SUBD. (C), PROVIDES FOR EXAMINATION AND TESTING OF EVIDENCE, IN A POST-CONVICTION CAPITAL CASE, UPON A SHOWING OF GOOD CAUSE AND REASONABLE NECESSITY

Section 1054.9 provides for post-conviction discovery in a case where the death penalty or a life-sentence has been imposed. The instant capital murder case is a qualifying case under section 1054.9. Section 1054.9, subdivisions (a) and (b), set forth the prerequisites for *general* discovery under the section, and provide:

- (a) Upon the prosecution of a postconviction writ of habeas corpus or a motion to vacate a judgment in a case in which a sentence of death or of life in prison without the possibility of parole has been imposed, and on a showing that good faith efforts to obtain discovery materials from trial counsel were made and were unsuccessful, the court shall, except as provided in subdivision (c), order that the defendant be provided reasonable access to any of the materials described in subdivision (b).
- (b) For purposes of this section, "discovery materials" means materials in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities to which the same defendant would have been entitled at time of trial.

(§ 1054.9, subd. (a), (b).) The People did not oppose Petitioner's request regarding the ballistics evidence under subdivisions (a) or (b); rather, the People's Opposition was based only on the lack of showing of good cause and reasonable necessity, as required under section 1054.9, subdivision (c), discussed immediately below.

Section 1054.9, subdivision (c), controls a petitioner's post-conviction *examination of evidence*, and is the subdivision at issue in the matter before this Court. The section provides, in relevant part⁶:

(c) In response to a writ or motion satisfying the conditions in subdivision (a), court may order that the defendant be provided access to physical evidence for the purpose of examination, including, but not limited to, any physical evidence relating to the investigation, arrest, and prosecution of the defendant only upon a showing that there is good cause to believe that access to physical evidence is reasonably necessary to the defendant's effort to obtain relief.

(§ 1054.9, subd. (c), emphasis added.)

The language of the statute is clear and unambiguous. "If the plain, commonsense meaning of a statute's words is unambiguous, the plain meaning controls." (Catlin, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 304.) The statute simply requires that a defendant seeking to test physical evidence, such as firearms and ballistics evidence, show good cause for the request, and demonstrate that it is reasonably necessary to support a postconviction claim for relief brought by way of a writ of habeas corpus or motion to vacate judgment. (§ 1054.9, subd. (c).) This Court has held that discovery may be sought in preparation of such claims. (In re Steele (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 691.) However, this Court has also held that the statute limits post-conviction discovery and does not provide for "freefloating" discovery. (*Id.* at p. 695; see also *Barnett v. Superior Court* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 890, 899.) With this in mind, the People respectfully submit that the "good cause" and "reasonable necessity" requirements, set forth in section 1054.9, subdivision (c), plainly require that those two basic showings be made by a moving petitioner before examination of evidence may be ordered.

⁶ One additional sentence, at the end of subdivision (c), addresses the testing of DNA evidence, and is not relevant to the instant matter.

A DISCOVERY ORDER IS REVIEWED FOR ABUSE OF DISCRETION

Generally, discovery orders are reviewed for abuse of discretion.

An appellate court "generally review[s] a trial court's ruling on matters regarding discovery under an abuse of discretion standard." (*People v. Ayala* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 225, 299.) Furthermore, "The burden is on the party complaining to establish an abuse of discretion, and unless a clear case of abuse is shown and unless there has been a miscarriage of justice a reviewing court will not substitute its opinion and thereby divest the trial court of its discretionary power." (*Denham v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 557, 566 (*Denham*).)

(Kennedy v. Superior Court (2006) 145 Cal. App. 4th 359, 366.)

Similarly, a trial court's ruling regarding a showing of "good cause" is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. (See e.g. *People v. Laursen* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 192, 204 (the finding regarding good cause for a motion to continue made pursuant to section 1050, is reviewed for abuse of discretion); accord *People v. Serrata* (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 9, 16.) The People accordingly submit that the trial court's finding regarding the lack of showing of good cause should be reviewed for abuse of discretion.

"[D]iscretion is abused whenever the court exceeds the bounds of reason, all of the circumstances being considered. [Citations.]" (*People v. Giminez* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 68, 72.) The trial court's ruling is presumed to be correct and Appellant has the burden of overcoming that presumption. (*Denham, supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 564.) Further, "It is a basic presumption indulged in by reviewing courts that the trial court is presumed to have known and applied the correct statutory and case law in the exercise of its official duties." (*People v. Mack* (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 1026, 1032; Evid. Code, § 664 [Official duty is presumed to be regularly performed.].)

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT PETITIONER FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION

The trial court found that Petitioner failed to demonstrate good cause in support of his request to test the ballistics evidence. (RT p. 40.) The record that has been supplied to this Court clearly supports the trial court's conclusion. Pursuant to the statute, Petitioner was required to demonstrate to the trial court "a showing that there is good cause to believe that access to physical evidence is reasonably necessary to the defendant's effort to obtain relief." (§ 1054.9, subdivision (c).) Petitioner clearly failed to do so, even after being placed on notice two months prior to the hearing that the People intended to object to his request only on that basis. (Opposition, p. 4.)

Petitioner's Motion was completely devoid of exhibits establishing good cause. The Motion merely noted that testing was "necessary" to the preparation of a writ of habeas corpus, with no further showing. (Motion, at p. 2.) Petitioner's Motion was accompanied by a Declaration from counsel Stephen K. Dunkle (at Motion, p. 3), but that declaration merely stated that testing was "necessary" without any further proof or showing of good cause. Petitioner admitted at the hearing that he possessed reports from three separate ballistics experts, including a ballistics expert retained by Petitioner (RT pp. 5-7), yet he did not attach those reports as exhibits to his motion, or submit them with a Reply. No documentary evidence or exhibits beyond the conclusory declaration of counsel are before this Court. Certainly, a completely conclusory declaration is insufficient as a matter of law to establish good cause. To hold that a single, unsupported, conclusory sentence establishes "good cause" for testing, would simply render the statutory requirement meaningless.

Conspicuous in its absence was a declaration from a ballistics expert that either the original test results were flawed or that technological advances now exist that would disprove the original test results or impeach the People's and Defense's experts at trial. This is particularly important since, at trial - as Petitioner conceded at the hearing - both the People's ballistic expert and Petitioner's own retained ballistics expert agreed that the ballistics evidence matched the assault rifle recovered from the car that Petitioner was arrested in. (RT p. 7.) Petitioner admitted that his own expert "corroborated" the testimony of the People's expert at trial. (*Ibid.*) Petitioner having conceded that his own expert corroborated the findings of the People's expert at trial, the trail court fairly inquired of Petitioner, "What is this accomplishing? ... Why are we creating a third report?" (*Id.* at p. 9:12, 9:23.) Petitioner's lack of a concrete, supported showing created proper grounds for the denial of his motion. As noted by the trial court, the argument that, "there is no harm" in the testing, does not create a showing of good cause as required by the statute. (*Id.* at pp. 30, 40.)

Petitioner was statutorily required to establish "good cause" and "reasonable necessity" for his request to test the physical ballistics evidence introduced at trial. (§ 1054.9, subdivision (c).) Given the complete lack of showing of good cause, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's Motion on that ground. (RT p. 40.) The Court of Appeal therefore properly denied the Petition for Writ of Mandate. This Court should similarly deny the Petition for Review.

That is not to say that the requisite showing is either impossible to attain or is barred from being subsequently presented in the trial court. As noted above, this Court has specifically left open the question as to whether a successive motion for discovery can be brought under section 1054.9. (*Catlin, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 308.) Given that unresolved question, the People's Opposition addressed the procedural aspects of conducting such testing, "assuming arguendo that the Defense can meet its burden" (Opposition p. 6.) However, testing is properly denied where Petitioner fails to make the proper showing, as required by law.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner fails to raise an issue that warrants this Court's review. The only question presented here is whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Petitioner failed to establish good cause, as required by the applicable statute. Petitioner fails to carry his burden to establish that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his Motion to test the ballistics evidence because he failed to make the basic, statutorily required, prerequisite showing of good cause and reasonable necessity in the trial court. The trial court properly denied his Motion on that basis. The Court of Appeal properly summarily denied the writ below because Petitioner failed to demonstrate that good cause supported his Motion, as required by law.

The Petition for Review should be denied.